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Sahagun was interviewed by a BPA on May 16, 2015 and charged as inadmissible to the United 
States under §212(a)(7)(A)(i)(I) of the Immigration and Nationality Act.  DENIZ-Sahagun 
attempted to enter the United States on two previous occasions.  He had no prior criminal 
convictions.2 
 
May 17, 2015 
 
On May 17, 2015, DENIZ-Sahagun was transported by USBP to the Banner University Medical 
Center, Tucson, AZ, after twice jumping from a concrete bench in a Border Patrol hold room and 
landing on his head.3  DENIZ-Sahagun told the emergency room physician he was attempting to 
break his own neck because he feared his life was in danger by both Mexican coyotes and USBP.   
The emergency room physician noted DENIZ-Sahagun had a faint scalp abrasion on the top of 
his head and that his neurological and physical examinations were normal.  The physician also 
documented that he consulted with the social work and psychiatry departments but was told 
DENIZ-Sahagun could not be seen by either department since he was in USBP custody.  
DENIZ-Sahagun was discharged later that day into USBP custody; his condition at the time of 
discharge was documented as “stable.”  ODO has been unable to determine whether a medical 
discharge summary or other medical documentation was provided to the BPAs who escorted 
DENIZ-Sahagun from the hospital.   
 
May 18, 2015  
 
On May 18, 2015, two BPAs escorted DENIZ-Sahagun to EDC, and he was admitted to the 
facility at 8:26 a.m.4  ODO notes the Medical Alert section of his Alien Booking Record5 was 
blank, and no medical or mental health documentation accompanied him to EDC.  ODO learned 
during interviews with EDC staff that the transporting BPAs asked to speak to medical staff 
regarding their concerns about DENIZ-Sahagun’s behavior.  IHSC  

, Registered Nurse (RN), who was in the booking area at the time of DENIZ-Sahagun’s 
intake, spoke to the BPAs.  During her interview with ODO,6 RN stated that the BPAs 
informed her the detainee was taken to the Tucson Medical Center,  Tucson, AZ, the previous 
day after jumping from a bench in a Border Patrol hold room.  They also reported he was 
observed banging his head against a wall at the Border Patrol Station and behaved erratically 
during his transport to EDC that morning, stating the cartel was after him, alternating speaking in 
Spanish and English, and intermittently becoming agitated then calm.  The BPAs stated DENIZ-
Sahagun was given a neck brace by the hospital, which he was wearing when he arrived at EDC, 
to prevent him from swinging his neck.8   
 

                                                           
2 I-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmissible Alien. 
3 See EXHIBIT 1:  DENIZ-Sahagun’s medical record from Banner University Medical Center.   
4 EDC Booking Record. 
5 Form I-385, Alien Booking Record. 
6 ODO interview with RN uly 1, 2015. 
7 The detainee was actually taken to Banner University Medical Center, which is also located in Tucson, AZ. 
8 RN did not document her conversation with the BPAs in DENIZ-Sahagun’s medical record. 
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ODO notes that because this was an immediate use-of-force incident, it was not recorded with a 
handheld video camera.  Although the area is under video surveillance by two stationary security 
cameras, ODO’s review of the video found it of limited use for two reasons: first, there was 
bright sunlight coming through the window on the side of the entry door, obscuring clear view; 
and second, some of the incident took place in a blind spot, out of view of either camera.  
Review of the footage nonetheless corroborates the progression of events as described by 
interviewed staff.36  This use-of-force incident, the first of the four, occurred at 9:38 a.m.  
 
After DENIZ-Sahagun was handcuffed and placed on the floor, Unit Manager  called 
for the assistance of EDC’s Emergency Response Team (ERT) via handheld radio.   Once the 
ERT was activated, handheld video recording of all subsequent events commenced and 
continued for the next three hours.38  The handheld video recording was viewed in its entirety as 
part of ODO’s review.    
 
The handheld video recording opens with DENIZ-Sahagun on the floor in the vestibule of Echo 
Unit.  He is surrounded by staff and he is crying out and screaming.  Per the video timer at the 
one minute, 20 second (0:01:20) mark, he is brought to his feet and officers use a hands-on 
escort technique to walk DENIZ-Sahagun to the medical unit for the required post-use-of-force 
medical examination.   
 
At the three minute (0:03:00) mark on the video, DENIZ-Sahagun is seated on a gurney in a 
medical unit examination room, and the post-use-of-force medical examination is initiated by 
InGenesis RN .39  According to the written report of Sergeant ,40 
RN instructed the camera operator, Officer , to stop recording during the 
medical examination.  Sergeant o instead told the Officer  to aim the camera 
away, and it was focused on DENIZ-Sahagun’s feet for the remainder of the examination.  
Although neither the nurse nor the detainee’s entire body were pictured in the recording, the 
video continued without lapse and with audio recording.  During her interview with ODO,41 RN 

 confirmed she directed Officer  to stop the video recording and stated she did so 
for privacy reasons.   
 
During his interview with ODO,42 Security Chief  told the review team he discussed 
the issue of recording DENIZ-Sahagun’s examination with Health Services Administrator (HSA) 

 because both EDC policy and the ICE PBNDS 2011, Use of Force and Restraints, 

                                                           
36 Video surveillance footage of Echo Unit vestibule area, May 19, 2015. 
37 ODO learned that at the start of each shift, staff members are assigned to the ERT with a particular role, 
including responsibility for the emergency keys, the fire extinguisher, the Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) 
mask, or the handheld video camera.  The person assigned responsibility for the camera receives it at the start of 
the shift and carries it on his or her duty belt.    
38 EXHIBIT 8:  Handheld video camera recording, May 19, 2015. 
39 See EXHIBIT 9:  Progress note by RN  May 19, 2015. 
40 Incident Report by Sergeant , May 19, 2015. 
41 ODO interview with RN  July 2, 2015. 
42 ODO interview with Chief June 30, 2015. 
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require post-use-of-force medical examinations be recorded.  During her interview with ODO,43 
HSA acknowledged her conversation with Chief  and provided a copy of an e-mail 
dated April 20, 2015,44 in which she directed healthcare staff to allow video recording of use-of-
force assessments, with the exception of invasive procedures.     
 
During her interview with ODO, RN  stated the detainee was in handcuffs during her 
encounter with him and was initially calm, but started to escalate after approximately five 
minutes.  She remembered DENIZ-Sahagun being verbally combative, agitated, not making 
sense, and demanding his lawyer be called.  She also stated he refused to answer any of her 
medical questions, and did not allow her to take his vital signs or examine him.  She stated she 
was only able to determine he had no visible signs of bleeding.   
 
Audio recording from the handheld video documents DENIZ-Sahagun refusing to cooperate with 
the medical examination and repeatedly stating “This is brutality.  I need my lawyer.”  When RN 

eventually directs officers to take DENIZ-Sahagun back to segregation, the handheld 
camera is re-aimed at the detainee.  As seen in the recording, as security staff attempt to walk 
DENIZ-Sahagun from the examination room, the detainee becomes physically resistant.  
Officers again place DENIZ-Sahagun face-down on the floor of the medical unit to control his 
movements.45  This, the second of the four use-of-force incidents, occurred at 9:47 a.m.   
 
The handheld video recording shows DENIZ-Sahagun struggling on the floor as four officers 
hold him in place.  He screams in English and Spanish, “Help me,” “Call my lawyer,” “This is 
brutality,” and “They want to kill me.”  RN who was present in the clinic at the time 
and witnessed DENIZ-Sahagun’s distress, documented the detainee became combative in the 
clinic, yelled and screamed that the cartel was coming to kill him, asked for protection, and said 
he would not move until he was permitted to call his lawyer.46   
 
IHSC Commander (CDR) , Medical Doctor (MD), was also in the clinic at this 
time.  He stated during his interview with ODO that he was in his office when he heard DENIZ-
Sahagun screaming loudly.47  When he stepped into the hallway, he observed the detainee lying 
face-down on the floor with his hands restrained behind his back.  Dr.  approached an 
officer and asked to speak to DENIZ-Sahagun in Spanish.  He then knelt beside the detainee, 
patted his shoulder, and asked how he could help him.  Dr  stated during his interview 
he advised DENIZ-Sahagun he could help him if he would just let him, but the detainee kept 
screaming.  According to Dr. , he told a nurse the detainee likely needed a mental 
health referral, placement on suicide watch, and possibly medication to calm him down.  Dr. 

                                                           
43 ODO interview with HSA , June 30, 2015. 
44 See EXHIBIT 10:  April 20, 2015 email from HSA  regarding recording of post-use-of-force medical 
examinations. 
45 At some point during the time he was held on the floor of the clinic, DENIZ-Sahagun was placed in leg restraints.  
Because the handheld camera was primarily aimed at his upper body, ODO is unable to determine the exact time 
the leg restraints were applied. 
46 See EXHIBIT 11:  Progress note by RN , May 19, 2015. 
47 ODO interview with Dr.  conducted telephonically on July 8, 2015. 
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discussed carrying the detainee by stretcher with HSA , and she agreed a gurney could be 
used, on the condition DENIZ-Sahagun not be strapped down and the sides of the gurney remain 
up.  When the stretcher was brought to Echo Unit, DENIZ-Sahagun agreed to be placed on it and 
was successfully transported via that method60.  However, once he arrived at Bravo 600, he 
refused to get off the stretcher, and staff had to carry him into cell 603.  This was the fourth and 
final use-of-force incident.    
 
Upon arrival to Bravo 600, officers removed DENIZ-Sahagun’s clothing using a cut down tool 
and assisted him into a suicide gown.  During interviews, officers stated the detainee was still too 
agitated to safely remove the handcuffs so that he could remove his clothing himself.  They also 
stated he was aware his clothing was being removed so he could be placed in a suicide gown, 
and he did not resist removal of his clothing.61  RN  examined DENIZ-Sahagun after he 
was changed and found minor red marks on his wrists from the restraints.62   
 
ODO’s review of the Bravo 600 surveillance video63 found that at 12:33 p.m.,64 five ERT 
officers dressed in uniforms and helmets, arrived at Bravo 600 carrying DENIZ-Sahagun.  Each 
of the four officers was holding a limb and the detainee was carried face down into cell 603.  At 
12:35 p.m., restraints were handed out of the cell door to officers standing in the dayroom.  The 
ERT members then exited the cell and each recorded an account of their role during the use-of-
force on the handheld camera, per CCA’s Use of Force policy.65  During each recording, the 
subject officer removed his helmet and stated he had no injuries.  RN s also recorded her 
account on the handheld camera stating she medically examined the detainee and he had a minor 
injury on his left wrist caused by the handcuffs.  As seen in the surveillance footage, at 12:38 
p.m., a stool was placed outside the door to cell 603, and an officer positioned himself at the door 
for one-on-one observation.  At approximately 12:40 p.m., after each account was recorded, the 
handheld camera was turned off.   
 
EDC utilizes a use-of-force review team comprised of the Security Chief, the HSA, the Warden 
or designee, and ICE staff.  Following DENIZ-Sahagun’s death, the four use-of-force incidents 
were reviewed by , HSA , Acting Warden Easterling, and SIEA   The 
team watched all video related to the event and reviewed all staff statements.  They concluded 
                                                           
60 But see EXHIBIT 11.  ODO notes an inconsistency in documentation of DENIZ-Sahagun’s transport to Bravo 600:  
RN  documented DENIZ-Sahagun was extracted from his cell in Echo Unit by force, but the handheld video 
recording shows force was not required to remove the detainee from his cell.   
61 A 1:47 p.m. suicide watch entry to DENIZ-Sahagun’s medical record by RN  documents because the 
detainee refused to remove his clothes, they were cut off with force.  ODO notes the information that the detainee 
refused to take off his clothes and that they were cut off with force is inconsistent with the handheld video 
recording of the event.    
62 Progress note by RN , May 19, 2015. 
63 See EXHIBIT 14:  Bravo 600 surveillance footage, May 19 to 20, 2015.  ODO notes the camera is mounted in a 
location which provides a view of the dayroom and the cells on each side, including a clear view of the exterior of 
cell 603.   
64 Based on analysis of written statements, handheld video and available documentation, the time stamp on the 
camera in Bravo Unit appears to be two hours later than the actual time.  Therefore, in this report, two hours have 
been deducted from the times shown on the video to reflect the actual time events occurred. 
65 CCA Policy 9-1, Use of Force & Restraints. 
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p.m., InGenesis RN   visited DENIZ-Sahagun and documented the detainee said 
he was fine and had no plan to harm himself.73  RN  noted the officer posted to DENIZ-
Sahagun’s cell reported the detainee had been quiet during his shift and had no complaints other 
than being hungry, for which he was provided some finger food.   
 
May 20, 2015, Day of Death  
 
An officer maintained one-on-one observation of DENIZ-Sahagun without interruption or 
incident through the night of May 19-20, 2015.74  At 4:51a.m., during a routine nursing round, 
InGenesis RN   documented DENIZ-Sahagun was observed sleeping, and the officer 
assigned to one-on-one observation reported the detainee slept through the night.75   
 
At 8:06 a.m., five officers, one of whom was carrying a shield, arrive at the detainee’s cell.  At 
8:08 a.m., DENIZ-Sahagun exited the cell wearing a one piece suicide gown and was escorted by 
an officer without force to an office on the unit to see Dr. .76  The video shows neither 
the shield nor any other restraining device was used.  The escorting officer remained outside the 
interview room with the door cracked open slightly.  At 8:17 a.m., DENIZ-Sahagun was escorted 
back into his cell.   
 
Dr.  entry to the medical record for this encounter is time stamped 8:20 a.m.  The full 
text of the History of Present Illness Narrative is as follows:77  
 

“31 [year old] English-speaking male from Mexcio [sic], living in Las Vegas for the past 
7 years.  Presents today with a clear sensorium, oriented in all spheres, embarrassed about 
the events of yesterday.  States that his mind suddenly started making connections 
between voices, people, sounds, and perceptions that convinced him that he was going to 
die here; he has no explanation for why he started thinking that way.  Apparently has a 
very clear recollection of the events of yesterday.  CCA personnel report that detainee has 
already written them an apology letter.78  Detainee expresses understanding of the ICE 
adjudication process, expresses understanding why is being detained in this facility.  He 
is completely agreeable to ongoing [mental health] services as indicated, and requests 
classes or groups on personal growth.” 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
73 Suicide watch progress note by RN  May 19, 2015. 
74 See EXHIBIT 14. 
75 Progress note by RN  May 20, 2015. 
76 See EXHIBIT 14. 
77 See EXHIBIT 16:  Mental health note by Dr.  May 20, 2015. 
78 Dr.  stated during his interview he learned of the apology letter through CCA staff.  ODO notes that 
because the detainee was on suicide watch, the implements necessary to write an apology letter were unavailable 
to the detainee; also, the video recording shows no evidence they were provided.  It is further noted no apology 
letter was ever found. 
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patients in the unit.  Dr.  also commented he finds the tool is not necessarily reliable in 
identifying intent or plan, hopelessness, lack of goal-directed thinking, and other critical items.   
He articulated his belief that use of the risk assessment tool would not have changed the outcome 
for DENIZ-Sahagun.   
 
ODO notes the electronic IHSC suicide risk assessment form includes a series of questions with 
drop-down boxes prompting specific follow up queries.  The mental health assessment 
documented by Dr.  in his progress note was not as comprehensive as called for by the 
form, including identification of specified vulnerability risk factors, and asking the detainee to 
rate on a scale of one to ten current feelings of hopelessness and future hopefulness.  Because the 
answers DENIZ-Sahagun may have given to questions on the form are unknown, had they been 
asked, it cannot be determined if its completion would have changed the outcome.   
    
Dr.  electronically signed the order removing DENIZ-Sahagun from suicide watch at 
8:47 a.m.   The new order placing DENIZ-Sahagun on mental health observation status stated 
he was to receive normal clothes, hygiene supplies, bedding, and meals; security checks were to 
be completed every 15 minutes; nursing checks were to be completed every eight hours; and a 
mental health evaluation was to be done daily.80  At 9:33 a.m., the officer posted to cell 603 left 
his post, marking the time the detainee was removed from one-on-one observation and stepped 
down to 15 minute checks.81  At 9:41 a.m., a Division of Immigration Health Services82 
Medical/Suicide Observation Checklist form was placed on the clipboard outside the cell to 
record the checks.  The form has times listed in 15 minute increments on the hour, quarter hour, 
half hour, and three-quarters hour; for example, 12:00 p.m., 12:15 p.m., 12:30 p.m., 12:45 p.m.  
There are also codes for location (bed, shower, hallway); behavior (crying, angry, sleeping, or 
walking); and status change (observation discontinued, placed in restraints or placed on one-on-
one observation).  The officer makes a notation such as 1/13 (which correlates to on bed and 
sleeping) and then initials the form.   
 
Although the officers assigned to Bravo 600 on May 20, 2015, made entries to DENIZ-
Sahagun’s Medical/Suicide Observation Checklist at the pre-printed times, it is noted the video 
surveillance footage showed rounds were conducted at random intervals, rather than precisely 
every 15 minutes.83  Officers are seen making rounds in intervals of six, seven, nine, and ten 
minutes, well within the requirement; however, on ten occasions, rounds exceeded the 15 minute 
requirement, though most were only by a minute or two.   The longest gap between rounds 
occurred between 10:15 a.m. and 10:40 a.m., which exceeded the 15 minute requirement by ten 
minutes. In addition to the regular rounds documented on the form, the video shows additional 
rounds were made by officers, but not noted on the form.  The surveillance footage shows 
officers taking various routes so rounds could not be predicted with any accuracy.  The footage 
                                                           
79 See EXHIBIT 16. 
80 See EXHIBIT 17:  Special Needs Form, May 20, 2015, and May 20, 2015 email to IHSC Regional Clinical Director, 

  MD. 
81 See EXHIBIT 14. 
82 IHSC was formerly the Division of Immigration Health Services. 
83 IHSC Directive: 07-04, Significant Self-Harm and Suicide Prevention and Intervention, requires 15 minute 
staggered checks for detainees with a recent history of self-destructive behavior. 
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also shows officers looking carefully into DENIZ-Sahagun’s cell during each round, stopping 
each time to verify he is breathing and alive.  
 
An eight-hour nursing round was conducted by InGenesis RN   at an undetermined 
time.84  RN   documented DENIZ-Sahagun denied any pain and was apologetic for 
his actions the previous day.85  She documented the detainee stated he was feeling very calm, 
and denied anxiety or thoughts of harming himself or others.  During her interview with ODO, 
RN  stated DENIZ-Sahagun was still in his green quilted suicide smock when she saw 
him for this encounter; however, she had been verbally informed by Dr.  he was no 
longer on suicide watch.86  She stated the detainee was smiling, pleasant, calm, and was 
embarrassed about his actions the day before.  When she asked him if he was depressed, anxious, 
or had thoughts of suicide, DENIZ-Sahagun replied no.   
 
At 2:30 p.m., DENIZ-Sahagun was removed from his cell and escorted to the shower by Officer 

  and Sergeant  .87  The shower is enclosed with chain link fencing and 
has a locking gate.  The video shows DENIZ-Sahagun initially stepping in and then out of the 
shower area when he is first brought over.  After the officers speak to him, he again enters the 
shower, and the gate is locked.  Sergeant  stated during his interview with ODO that 
DENIZ-Sahagun did not want the door to the shower locked and he had the feeling the detainee 
wanted to run.88  At 2:33 p.m., Sergeant  handed DENIZ-Sahagun his clothing.  At 2:52 
p.m., the officers placed a bedroll containing two sets of clothing and a mattress inside cell 603.  
At 2:53 p.m., DENIZ-Sahagun exited the shower area dressed in green pants and a green shirt 
and was returned to cell 603.89   
 
At 4:22 p.m., a food tray was delivered to DENIZ-Sahagun.90  At 4:35 p.m., the detainee placed 
his food tray on his open trap for pick-up by an officer.  At 4:40 p.m., Officer  picked 
up the tray and closed the trap.  Between 4:49 p.m. and 4:57 p.m., DENIZ-Sahagun’s silhouette 
can be seen at the cell door on four occasions. 
 
At 5:00 p.m., during a round, Officer  opened the food trap and leaned down to 
listen.91  He then closed the trap and walked away, but returned at 5:04 p.m. with a toothbrush 
and toothpaste tube which he passed to DENIZ-Sahagun through the trap.  Officer  
                                                           
84 The time documented on the progress note, 2:44 p.m., does not correlate with subsequent events.  During her 
interview with ODO, RN  stated she likely created the note that afternoon after completing her rounds, not 
necessarily immediately following her encounter with DENIZ-Sahagun.  The electronic medical record system does 
not prompt the user to document the time of encounter but instead time-stamps the note at the time it was 
created. 
85 Medical progress note by RN  May 20, 2015. 
86 ODO interview with RN  July 2, 2015. 
87 See EXHIBIT 14. 
88 ODO interview with Sergeant   June 30, 2015. 
89 ODO was unable to determine why DENIZ-Sahagun was not showered and provided these items until 2:30 p.m., 
as Dr.  order for the detainee to be stepped down to mental health observation was made at 8:47 a.m., 
and one-on-one observation ceased at 9:33 a.m., approximately 5 hours earlier. 
90 See EXHIBIT 14. 
91 Id. 
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made these proclamations, LPN  stated during his interview that medical staff quickly 
realized the detainee was not having a seizure.101   
 
PA  stated during his interview the detainee was having obvious difficulty breathing, 
was making gasping and gurgling sounds, and that he immediately recognized this type of 
breathing as agonal.102  PA  stated he recognized DENIZ-Sahagun was going to die 
very soon if they could not clear his airway.  The handheld video shows medical staff tilting 
DENIZ-Sahagun’s head, and during his interview, PA  clarified this was done to help 
him check inside the detainee’s mouth.  PA  stated he checked the inside of the mouth 
and airway to the extent possible, but the detainee’s jaw was tightly clenched which made it 
difficult.    
 
At the 1 minute, 30 second (0:01:30) mark on the video, RN  attempted to take DENIZ-
Sahagun’s carotid pulse, could not find it, and then instructed officers to remove the handcuffs.   
Sergeant  struggled to remove the handcuffs for approximately 41 seconds before he got 
them off at approximately 5:37:03.  During his interview, Sergeant  stated the position of 
DENIZ-Sahagun’s body made it difficult to quickly unlock and remove the handcuffs.  PA 

 stated during his interview that although the delay in removing the handcuffs was not 
ideal, it had no influence on the ultimate outcome for DENIZ-Sahagun.  However, when 
considered in the context of the entire emergency response, the delay only added to the total 
elapsed time since Officer  emergency call, more than nine minutes earlier.  Further, 
approximately four of those minutes were consumed taking and discontinuing security 
precautions.   
 
At the two minute, 17 second (0:02:17) mark on the handheld video, the blood pressure cuff was 
attached.  ODO notes the handheld video recording only continued for another 36 seconds during 
which time LPN  continued to try to get a response from DENIZ-Sahagun, and PA 

 checked for a heartbeat with a stethoscope.  Officer  stated during her 
interview with ODO that after recording for a total of two minutes, 53 seconds (0:02:53), Chief 

 instructed her to turn off the handheld camera.103  ODO notes her written incident report 
documents Captain  gave the order to stop recording.104  Captain  stated during his 
interview the camera was turned on initially because the event was an ERT event, and once it 
became a medical procedure, the recording had to be stopped.105   
 
PA  documented he heard a very faint heart beat upon listening to his heartbeat with a 
stethoscope and made the decision to initiate CPR and hook an Automated External Defibrillator 
(AED) up to DENIZ-Sahagun.106  At 5:38 p.m., ten minutes after the medical emergency was 
called and four minutes after entry into the cell, PA  directed officers to call 911.  Per 
                                                           
101 ODO interview with LPN  July 2, 2015. 
102 ODO interview with PA  July 2, 2015.  “Agonal” breathing is an “inadequate pattern of breathing 
associated with extreme physiological distress.” 
103 ODO interview with Officer  July 1, 2015. 
104 Officer  Incident Statement. 
105 ODO interview with Captain  June 30, 2015. 
106 See EXHIBIT 20:  Progress note by PA  May 20, 2015. 
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the Eloy Fire District Emergency Medical System (EMS) report, the ambulance was dispatched 
to EDC at 5:39 p.m. 

 
RN  stated during her interview with ODO that she began CPR compressions after 
attempting to take DENIZ-Sahagun’s blood pressure and placing the detainee on oxygen.107  She 
documented the concentration of oxygen in DENIZ-Sahagun’s blood as being only 48 percent108  
. She stated LPN  gave two rescue breaths after the first round of compressions and the 
AED was placed on the detainee.  At no time during the approximately 15 minutes staff 
performed CPR did the AED advise a shock.  Officer   whose duty as an ERT 
member that day was to bring a CPR mask, performed one round of CPR and assisted with the 
ambu-bag.109  PA  documented sputum and chunks of paper came from the detainee’s 
mouth and nose during CPR which was quickly suctioned with a manual suction device during 
compression cycles.110  During interviews, all persons present in the cell observed some sort of 
paper, presumed to be tissue, coming from the detainee’s mouth and nostrils.  ODO notes the 
surveillance video shows a roll of toilet paper remained outside DENIZ-Sahagun’s cell.  During 
interviews, officers stated the detainee was never issued a roll of toilet paper to keep inside his 
cell, but was instead given sections of toilet paper upon request. 
 
At 5:47 p.m., the ambulance arrived on site.111  Both the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 
report and the Bravo 600 video surveillance footage reflect the paramedics arrived at DENIZ-
Sahagun’s cell at 5:52 p.m.  ODO notes the EMS report documents paramedics found the staff at 
Eloy performing “quality CPR” and had an AED in place.  PA  stated during his 
interview that he informed the lead paramedic of the paper coming from the DENIZ-Sahagun’s 
mouth and nose.  The paramedics quickly determined DENIZ-Sahagun did not have a heartbeat, 
and exchanged the manual suction being used by Eloy staff with a more powerful suction 
device.112  PA  stated during his interview that the paramedics did not suction any 
paper out of the detainee’s mouth because his jaw was fully locked by then.   
 
At 5:58 p.m., Captain  notified ICE Supervisory Detention and Deportation Officer (SDDO) 

  that EMS was called for DENIZ-Sahagun and was performing CPR.113 
 
The paramedics took over CPR, performing four rounds over 15 minutes, and epinephrine (the 
hormone adrenalin which is commonly used to treat cardiac arrest) was administered 
intravenously three times during the CPR rounds.  PA  documented the lead paramedic 
telephoned Banner Casa Grande Medical Center after the third round of CPR and epinephrine to 
report that DENIZ-Sahagun was unresponsive.114  According to the EMS report, Dr.  of 

                                                           
107 ODO interview with RN   This information was also documented in her May 20, 2015 progress note. 
108 See EXHIBIT 19.  For purposes of oxygen saturation readings, according to Creative Corrections, anything under 
90 percent is considered low; a reading of 48 indicates acute respiratory distress or a blocked airway. 
109 Incident Statement by Officer  completed May 20, 2015. 
110 See EXHIBIT 20. 
111 EMS report. 
112 See EXHIBIT 19. 
113 See EXHIBIT 21:  Notification sheet from incident packet pertaining to DENIZ-Sahagun’s death. 
114 See EXHIBIT 20. 
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“ABCs” of CPR: Airway, Breathing, and Circulation; that the nurses did not recognize DENIZ-
Sahagun’s agonal breathing as quickly as he believed they should have; and, that the nurses 
seemed to have limited awareness of the contents of the emergency bag.   
 
Chief  stated during his interview that the services of a community crisis intervention 
resource was offered to affected security staff, and HSA  stated the Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) was made available to medical staff.  ODO notes LPN  reported during 
his interview that he and other contract medical staff believed EAP was only available to IHSC 
employees.  He stated InGenesis offered emotional support services approximately six weeks 
after the detainee’s death. 
 
In an undated letter from the   Acting Field Office Director, Phoenix Field Office, 
sent “care of” the Consulate General of Mexico, DENIZ-Sahagun’s sister, , was 
informed of her brother’s death. 
 
SECURITY AND HEALTHCARE REVIEW 
 
Creative Corrections, a national management and consultant firm contracted by ICE to provide 
subject matter expertise in detention management including security and healthcare, reviewed the 
safety and security of DENIZ-Sahagun while he was detained at EDC, as well as the medical 
care he was provided while housed there.  Creative Corrections found EDC did not fully comply 
with the following ICE PBNDS 2011standards: Medical Care, Significant Self-harm and Suicide 
Prevention and Intervention, Special Management Units, and Use of Force and Restraints.  The 
Creative Corrections Security and Medical Compliance Analysis is included as an Exhibit to this 
report.128 
 
IMMIGRATION AND DETENTION HISTORY 
 
On September 27, 2011, DENIZ-Sahagun unlawfully entered the United States and was arrested 
by Border Patrol in Pine Valley, California (CA).  He was processed as a Voluntary Return, and 
was returned to Mexico via the Alien Transfer and Exit Program (ATEP). 
 
On April 17, 2013, DENIZ-Sahagun unlawfully entered the United States.  He was arrested by 
Border Patrol near Calexico, California, on April 18, 2013, and served with a Form I-860, Notice 
of Expedited Removal, charging him with inadmissibility pursuant to §212(a)(6)(A)(i) of the 
Immigration and Nationality Act (INA).  On that same day, DENIZ-Sahagun was removed to 
Mexico through the San Ysidro, CA Port of Entry (POE) via ATEP. 
 
On May 15, 2015, DENIZ-Sahagun applied for admission to the United States at the Douglas, 
Arizona POE.  According to documentation by Border Patrol, DENIZ-Sahagun ran into the 
pedestrian lane at the POE visibly emotional and hysterical.  When BPAs asked DENIZ-Sahagun 
what he needed, DENIZ-Sahagun reportedly stated “they are going to kill me.” 
 

                                                           
128 See EXHIBIT 24:  Creative Corrections Security and Medical Compliance Analysis. 
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On May 16, 2015, Border Patrol served DENIZ-Sahagun with a Notice to Appear charging 
inadmissibility pursuant to §212(a)(7)(A)(i)(I) of the INA. 
 
On May 18, 2015, DENIZ-Sahagun was transported by BPAs to the EDC where he was 
transferred to ICE custody. 
 
CRIMINAL HISTORY 
 
None. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
Medical Compliance Findings 
 
The following deficiencies in the ICE PBNDS 2011 were identified:   
 

1. ICE PBNDS 2011, Medical Care, section (V)(G)(12), which states, “Each facility shall 
have and comply with written policy and procedures for the management of 
pharmaceuticals, to include: 12. Documentation of accountability for administering or 
distributing medications in a timely manner according to licensed provider orders.”   
 
DENIZ-Sahagun’s medical record contains a May 19, 2015 order by Dr.  for 
the administration of haloperidol and lorazepam.  HSA  decided to override that 
order when she learned DENIZ-Sahagun had calmed; however, she did not document the 
decision to not administer the medications or the rationale behind that decision. 
 

2. ICE PBNDS 2011, Significant Self-harm and Suicide Prevention and Intervention, 
section (V)(D), which states,  “This evaluation129 shall be conducted by a qualified 
mental health professional which will determine the level of suicide risk, level of 
supervision needed, and need for transfer to an inpatient mental health facility. This 
evaluation shall be documented in the medical record and must include the following 
information:   
 

1. relevant history;   
2. environmental factors;   
3. lethality of suicide plan;   
4. psychological factors;   
5. a determination of level of suicide risk;   
6. level of supervision needed;   
7. referral/transfer for inpatient care (if needed);   
8. instructions to medical staff for care; and   

                                                           
129 “This evaluation” refers to a mental health evaluation that must be done by a mental health provider for any 
detainee who is identified for being “at risk” for significant self-harm or suicide.  See ICE PBNDS 2011, Significant 
Self-harm and Suicide Prevention and Intervention, section (V)(C). 
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9. reassessment time frames.   
 
Detainees placed on suicide watch shall be re-evaluated by appropriately trained and 
qualified medical staff on a daily basis, with this re-evaluation documented in the 
detainee’s medical record.  Only the mental health professional, CMA, or designee may 
terminate a suicide watch after a current suicide risk assessment is completed. A detainee 
may not be returned to the general population until this assessment has been completed.” 
 
Before discontinuing DENIZ-Sahagun’s suicide watch on May 20, 2015, Dr.  did 
not perform a suicide risk assessment addressing all required factors. His assessment, 
documented in a progress note, did not address relevant history, environmental factors, 
and specific determination of level of suicide risk.  
 

3. ICE PBNDS 2011, Significant Self-harm and Suicide Prevention and Intervention, 
section (V)(K), which states, “A critical incident debriefing shall be offered to all 
affected staff and detainees within 24 to 72 hours after the critical incident.”   
 
No critical incident debriefing was conducted with staff or detainees following DENIZ-
Sahagun’s death.  ODO was informed security staff involved in the emergency response 
were offered supportive counseling by a local community crisis intervention source, and 
medical staff were referred to the Employee Assistance Program.  ODO was not provided 
with information indicating detainees were offered such services.   
 
Additionally, EDC did not convene a multi-disciplinary debriefing in contravention of 
IHSC Local Operating Procedure 1501, Suicide Prevention and Intervention which 
requires, “A formal debriefing with the AFOD, Warden, HSA, and other 
multidisciplinary team members to convene the next business day for a formal debriefing 
to review critical elements that contributed to the death and measures to prevent future 
deaths.” 

 
In addition to the deficiencies, ODO notes the following ICE PBNDS 2011 Expected 
Outcomes were not met:   

 
1. Significant Self-harm and Suicide Prevention and Intervention, section (II)(1), which 

states, “All staff responsible for supervising detainees shall receive a minimum of eight 
hours of training initially during orientation, on effective methods of identifying 
significant self-harm, as well as suicide prevention and intervention with detainees.” 
 
The CCA Suicide Prevention Orientation Lesson Plan lists the required credit hours as 
three rather than eight.  However, ODO notes all staff who had contact with DENIZ-
Sahagun received training in suicide prevention during orientation and annually.  The 
requirement for eight hours of training during orientation training appears for the first 
time in the PBNDS 2011, which were implemented at EDC following hire of most 
involved staff.  
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2. Medical Care, section (II)(2), which states, “The facility shall have a mental health 
staffing component on call to respond to the needs of the detainee population 24 hours a 
day, seven days a week.”   
 
ODO learned during the review that midlevel providers address mental health needs after 
hours; mental health providers are not on call.    
 

Safety and Security Compliance Findings 
 
The following deficiencies in the ICE PBNDS 2011 were identified:   
 

1. ICE PBNDS 2011, Special Management Units, section (V)(A)(2)(b),130 which states, 
“A written order shall be completed and approved by the facility administrator or 
designee before a detainee is placed in administrative segregation, except when exigent 
circumstances make such documentation impracticable. In such cases, an order shall be 
prepared as soon as possible.   

b. Prior to a detainee’s actual placement in administrative segregation, the 
facility administrator or designee shall complete the administrative 
segregation order (Form I-885 or equivalent), detailing the reasons for 
placing the detainee in administrative segregation.”   

 
EDC generates a “Confinement Watch Log” when a detainee is placed on segregation 
status.  ODO learned during interviews that if segregation placement is for protective 
custody purposes, an investigation is conducted the day after placement to determine if 
segregation is warranted.  Although a Confinement Watch Log was created for DENIZ-
Sahagun, the detainee’s detention records did not include a May 18, 2015 administrative 
segregation order pending a protective custody investigation, and ODO was unable to 
confirm one was created for him.  ODO notes the Confinement Watch Log fails to meet 
the requirements of an administrative segregation order because it does not include a 
section to specify why placement in protective custody is necessary, does not show 
whether the detainee requested protective custody, and does not indicate whether the 
detainee was provided a copy of the form.   
 

2. ICE PBNDS 2011, Use of Force and Restraints, section (V)(I)(2)(e)131, which states,  
“Calculated use of force incidents shall be audio-visually recorded in the following order:  

e.  Take close-ups of the detainee’s body during a medical exam, focusing on 
the presence/absence of injuries.  Staff injuries, if any, are to be described 
but not shown.”  

 
During the May 19, 2015, post-use-of-force medical exam, RN  erroneously directed 
Officer  to turn the camera away and not visually record the detainee’s exam.     

 

                                                           
130 ICE has designated this particular portion of the standard as a Priority Component. 
131 ICE has designated this particular portion of the standard as a Priority Component. 
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In addition to the deficiencies, the reviewers note the following ICE PBNDS 2011 Expected 
Outcome was not met:   

 
1. Special Management Units, section (II)(7), which states, “Health care staff shall be 

immediately informed when a detainee is admitted to an SMU and shall conduct an 
assessment and review of the detainee’s medical and mental health status and care needs.  
Health care personnel shall at a minimum conduct a daily assessment of detainees in an 
SMU.  Where reason for concern exists, a qualified medical, or mental health 
professional shall conduct a complete evaluation.” 
 
Health care staff were not informed DENIZ-Sahagun was transferred to segregation until 
the morning following his placement on protective custody status.  RN  who 
happened to be in the unit to see another detainee, was asked to perform a medical  
clearance for DENIZ-Sahagun by an officer who noticed one had not yet been completed.  
RN  cleared DENIZ-Sahagun based on his interview with the detainee, but did 
not review the medical record before or after the assessment was done.   
 
ODO notes failure to medically evaluate DENIZ-Sahagun prior to his placement in Echo 
Unit on protective custody status also violates CCA Policy 10-100, Special Management 
Resident: Segregation/Restrictive Housing Unit Management, which requires all 
detainees to be screened by a qualified health care professional prior to placement in 
segregation. 
 

Areas of Note 
 

1. CCA Policy 9-19, Suicide Prevention/Risk Reduction requires development of a “Suicide 
Prevention Plan,” which is reviewed annually and addresses specific facility initiatives 
for suicide prevention.  The plan should also address facility compliance with the policy, 
the areas of focus needing improvement, and monitoring and quality improvement 
activities.  During review of DENIZ-Sahagun’s death, ODO found no evidence EDC has 
developed such a plan, despite DENIZ-Sahagun’s suicide being the third at EDC since 
April 2013, and the fifth since 2005.  ODO notes a plan should be collaboratively 
developed by CCA and IHSC and include all elements required in CCA Policy 9-19, and 
which considers any findings resulting from internal reviews and/or investigations by 
outside sources of all suicides at the facility.   

 
2. CCA Policy 5-1.4, Incident Reporting, section (c)(2)(b)(iv) states, “Employees must 

complete a 5-1C prior to the end of their shift and departing the facility, when practical 
completion will take place immediately following the incident.  In the event 
circumstances (e.g. at the hospital, etc.) prevent an employee from completing necessary 
paperwork prior to departing the facility, a verbal statement shall be taken from the 
employee (by the Unit Manager, Shift Supervisor, or designee) and paperwork will be 
obtained as soon as practical.  The individual obtaining the verbal statement must 
document the reason that the employee was not able to complete a 5-1C.”  ODO notes 
incident statements were not timely collected from all staff involved in both the use of 
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a note entered by Dr.  at 2:41 p.m., which states, “Detainee moved to Suicide 
Watch housing/protocol – continues to reject all MH intervention, escalates at the 
slightest questioning which he interprets as provocation.  Continues to threaten self-harm 
if not allowed to immediately talk to his lawyer – has no lawyer on file in ICE records.  
Coordination with M.D. and HSA to administer a 1-time involuntary psychiatric 
medication.”  The record does not document DENIZ-Sahagun was ever asked to 
voluntarily consent to psychotropic medications, and interviews with medical staff 
indicate he was not asked for such consent. 
 

9. DENIZ-Sahagun’s placement on suicide watch occurred within two days of a self-
professed suicide attempt and within one day of transfer to protective custody due to his 
fear his cellmate would kill him.  His placement on suicide watch also followed his 
agitated, fearful, hysterical, and inconsolable state which lasted for more than three hours 
on May 19, 2015.  Approximately 20 hours after DENIZ-Sahagun was placed on suicide 
watch, Dr.  decided DENIZ-Sahagun should be discontinued from suicide watch 
based on the detainee’s apparent dramatic improvement overnight.  Dr.  ordered 
DENIZ-Sahagun be placed on mental health observation status with no restrictions on 
property.  As described in the narrative, DENIZ-Sahagun ultimately used items from his 
property to end his own life.   

 
10. Although Dr.  documented his mental health assessment of DENIZ-Sahagun in 

the detainee’s medical record, he did not complete the IHSC suicide risk assessment 
form.  During his interview with ODO, Dr.  stated he was unable to complete the 
form for DENIZ-Sahagun because it is only available in its entirety in electronic format, 
and a computer was unavailable in Echo Unit’s medical room where he evaluated 
DENIZ-Sahagun.  Dr.  also stated the form is typically used to determine 
placement on suicide watch versus removal from the status, and indicated he was 
unaware it should be used for removal purposes.     

 
11. When DENIZ-Sahagun was first found unresponsive in his cell, Officer  

immediately called a medical emergency and appropriately did not enter the cell.  ODO 
notes entering a secured cell without back-up is an unsafe practice because it makes an 
officer vulnerable to physical attack, and to having their keys, radio and other equipment 
taken, including OC spray, if carried.  However, as reflected in the narrative of this 
report, four additional security staff arrived within four minutes of Officer  
medical emergency call.  Despite opening the cell door and observing DENIZ-Sahagun 
was unresponsive and exhibited abnormal breathing, Sergeant  re-shut the door and 
waited an additional two minutes until Captain  arrived and directed officers to the 
enter the cell with a shield.   

 
ODO recognizes during emergency situations, officers must make quick decisions that 
consider both staff safety and detainee welfare.  On this occasion, officers determined 
DENIZ-Sahagun’s behavior the previous day warranted the need for maximum caution 
and Sergeant  decided to wait for the full ERT to assemble, and for Captain  
to arrive, before entering the cell; likewise, Captain  determined use of the shield 
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and handcuffs was necessary.  Upon review of the incident, ODO observed that initiating 
rescue efforts when Sergeant  first opened the cell door would not have placed 
staff at risk.  Additionally, although Captain  exercised his discretionary judgment, 
use of the shield and handcuffs was not clearly indicated for DENIZ-Sahagun.  ODO 
notes having an ERT for medical emergencies is an efficient method of assuring an 
adequate number of staff with assigned duties respond; however, it should not be a 
substitute for exercise of sound judgment by the first responders, and rendering of 
emergency care should not be delayed pending the arrival of the full team. 

 
12. Medical staff entered DENIZ-Sahagun’s cell within five minutes of Officer  

medical emergency call.  ODO notes this exceeds the four-minute timeframe called for in 
emergency response training by one minute.  According to the medical staff interviewed, 
they departed the clinic immediately upon receiving Officer  medical 
emergency call and arrived at Echo Unit shortly thereafter, and within four minutes.  Due 
to the security precautions discussed in this report, medical staff were required to wait an 
additional minute to enter the cell, and then did not have unfettered access to DENIZ-
Sahagun until approximately nine minutes after the detainee was first found 
unresponsive.  ODO notes, as observed by PA  the delay was excessive from a 
medical perspective, even if it had no bearing on the eventual outcome.  If Sergeant 

 had allowed medical staff to enter DENIZ-Sahagun’s cell immediately upon their 
arrival, minutes may have been saved before EMS was called.  

 
13. PA  directed EMS be called approximately four minutes after he entered 

DENIZ-Sahagun’s cell.  According to the American Heart Association,132 911 should be 
called immediately after a patient is found unresponsive and before resuscitative efforts 
commence.  Adherence to this guideline would have resulted in calling EMS upon 
medical staff’s determination the detainee was unresponsive when they entered the cell, 
approximately four minutes prior to PA  direction to make the call.   

 
14. ODO recognizes that events surrounding DENIZ-Sahagun’s detention and death at EDC 

transpired quickly, and several entries to his medical record were consequently made 
after-the-fact and in summary fashion.  However, ODO notes the following pertinent 
information, though conveyed verbally to ODO during interviews, was not documented 
in the record. 

 
• The BPAs report of DENIZ-Sahagun’s erratic behavior while in Border Patrol 

custody to RN  
• RN  conversation with DENIZ-Sahagun in the intake area when he 

expressed fear the cartel was after him and had difficulty answering RN  
questions coherently.  

• LCSW  and RN  telephone discussion regarding DENIZ-Sahagun’s 
self-reported suicide attempt and his current psychological state as observed by RN 

                                                           
132 2010 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular 
Care. 
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Sandoval, which led to LCSW  determination the detainee should have a non-
urgent mental health referral and be scheduled for a mental health evaluation the 
following day.  

• A documented justification for Dr.  order of involuntary psychotropic 
medications for DENIZ-Sahagun on May 19, 2015, as well as documented 
authorization by Dr.  that the medications should be administered 
involuntarily. 

• RN  and Dr.  encounter with DENIZ-Sahagun at 2:18 p.m. on 
May 19, 2015, after he was allegedly observed banging his head on the sink while on 
suicide watch.   

• RN  observation, which was provided verbally to HSA  that DENIZ-
Sahagun was calm when she visited him at 2:18 p.m. and had remained calm for 
approximately one hour, which led to HSA  decision to intervene in the 
administration of involuntary medications to the detainee.    
 

ODO also identified the following inaccurate accounts of events in DENIZ-Sahagun’s 
medical record. 

 
• Dr.  documented that upon arrival in the clinic for medical services on May 

19, 2015, DENIZ-Sahagun “immediately threw himself on the floor and began to 
scream about being killed.”  During the review, ODO found no information showing 
Dr.  witnessed the detainee’s arrival in the clinic; furthermore, his account is 
not supported by the video recording or staff reports.  

• Dr.  documentation of DENIZ-Sahagun’s May 19, 2015 assessment states 
DENIZ-Sahagun arrived at EDC with a neck brace as a result of his repeated attempts 
to bang his head against walls.  ODO notes this information was apparently relayed 
verbally, but was never documented in the detainee’s records, yet Dr.  
presents it as fact.   

• RN  documented force was used to extract the detainee from his cell in Echo 
Unit for placement on suicide watch.  ODO notes force was not used during this 
movement.  

• RN  documented a telephone encounter with Dr.  wherein she 
requested an immediate assessment due to DENIZ-Sahaugn’s combative and 
uncooperative behavior, and because he “attacked” CCA staff.  As described in the 
narrative of this report, neither video footage, written documentation or verbal reports 
show DENIZ-Sahagun ever attacked any staff member at EDC.   

• In a suicide watch entry, RN   documented officers reported DENIZ-Sahagun 
refused to take off his clothes, so his clothes were cut off with force.  This 
information is inconsistent with the handheld video recording of the event.    

 
15. Although an after action review of the four uses-of-force on DENIZ-Sahagun was 

conducted, no multi-disciplinary debriefing on the detainee’s death was convened by the 
HSA or CCA, nor was there evidence of a documented internal review or investigation of 
DENIZ-Sahagun’s detention and death.  Likewise, no debriefing or review of actions 
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taken by medical staff during the emergency response was conducted by HSA   
Based on information provided to ODO, the investigation completed by EDC’s 
investigator,   consisted of collecting video recordings, documentation of 15-
minute rounds in Echo Unit, and incident statements from staff, some of which were 
collected several days after the event.  ODO did not find documentation that an 
investigation or critical analysis of all events transpiring during DENIZ-Sahagun’s 
detention period was conducted and reviewed by facility and CCA management.   
 
Conducting a comprehensive internal after action review and investigation serves the 
critical purpose of identifying any policy violations during an event and areas needing 
improvement, thereby facilitating prompt implementation of appropriate corrective 
action.  ODO also notes that internal review supports the suicide prevention plan called 
for in CCA policy.  As noted above, the policy on suicide prevention and risk reduction 
requires a plan that addresses “specific facility initiatives and the facility’s plan for 
compliance,” “areas of focus needing improvement,” and “monitoring and quality 
improvement activities.”  There is no evidence of such a plan, despite detainee DENIZ-
Sahagun’s suicide is the third at EDC since April 2013 and the fifth since 2005.   A plan 
should be collaboratively developed by CCA and IHSC which includes all required 
elements and factors the findings resulting from internal review, if any, and investigation 
by outside sources for all detainee suicides.    






